
Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board 
Wednesday  November 18, 2015; 3:00 pm – 4:20 pm 

The History Center, Gateway Center, 401 East State St. Suite 100, Ithaca

Tour of The History Center to Begin at 2:30pm 

AGENDA  Start Time

 Welcome – Rod Howe, Director of The History Center in Tompkins County 3:00 

 October STPB Meeting Minutes 3:05 
o ACTION – Approve Meeting Minutes

 Privilege of the Floor
o Limit of 3 minutes per person for members of the public to address the board

 Chair’s REPORT – Sue Perlgut 3:10 

 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation Funding 3:15 
o ACTION – Recommend 2015 award of funding for Wayfinding and Visitor Profile Study

 Tourism Partner Awards – Kelli Cartmill 3:20 
o ACTION – Recommend 2015 Tourism Partner Awards

 Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan PRESENTATION – Anne Gossen 3:25 

 Branding & Communications Committee REPORT  – Josh Friedman 3:45 

 Tompkins County Room Tax Law – REPORT – Tom Knipe 3:55 

 CVB / Chamber REPORT – Bruce Stoff and Jennifer Tavares 4:00 

 P&E Committee REPORT – Ken Jupiter 4:10 
END  4:20   

Agenda Packet 
1. October 2015 draft STPB meeting minutes
2. Draft Resolution: Award of 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation Funding
3. 2015 Tourism Partner Awards: Resolution, Nominations and Background
4. Draft Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan Executive Summary. The full draft document is available

to read online:
http://www.tompkinscountyny.gov/files/tourism/Heritage%20Tourism%20Implementation%20Plan_
10_13_Full%20Draft.pdf

5. CVB November Update
6. Final CVB Evaluation Plan Executive Summary

Full versions of the following documents are available upon request. Email: tknipe@tompkins‐co.org 

 Final CVB Evaluation Plan (

 Visitor Profile Study RFP (10 pages)

MISSION: The Strategic Tourism Planning Board is charged by the 
Tompkins County Legislature with providing oversight and strategic 
direction for tourism initiatives that promote economic development and 
enhance the quality of life in Tompkins County. 

Page 1, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15

http://www.tompkinscountyny.gov/files/tourism/Heritage%20Tourism%20Implementation%20Plan_10_13_Full%20Draft.pdf


Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Draft Meeting Minutes – October 2015 

Page 1  

Date:  October 21, 2015  1 
Time:  3:00-4:35pm 2 
Location:          CVB  3 
 4 
Attendees: 5 

Name Representation 

Christy Agnese E Ithaca College 

Sue Perlgut  Arts-Culture 

Josh Friedman  Arts-Culture 

John Spence  CAP, Non-Voting 

Bruce Stoff  CVB, Non-Voting 

Dwight Mengel A Transportation, Non-Voting 

Gary Ferguson A DIA, Non-Voting 

Jennifer Tavares Chamber, Non-Voting 

Martha Armstrong  TCAD, Non-Voting 

Will Burbank ETC Legislature, Non-Voting 

Beverly Baker Associate Member 

Carol Kammen Associate Member 

Jon Reis  Associate Member 

Tom Knipe Staff 

Jennifer Turner  Staff 
 7 

Also in attendance: Marcia Nedland, Fall Creek Consultants 8 
 9 

Meeting Agenda 10 
1) September STPB Minutes  11 
2) Chair’s Report – Sue Perlgut 12 
3) STPB Nominating Committee 13 

 Appoint Nominating Committee – Sue Perlgut 14 
4) Privilege of the Floor 15 
5) Branding & Communications Committee Report and Discussion – Josh Friedman 16 
6) Staff Report – Tom Knipe 17 
7) Fall 2015 Grant Award Recommendations 18 

 Recommend Fall 2015 Community Celebrations Grant Awards – Sue Perlgut 19 
 Recommend Fall 2015 New Tourism Initiatives Grant Awards – Steve Hugo 20 

8) P&E Committee Report and Discussion – Ken Jupiter 21 
9) CVB 3Q report – Bruce Stoff 22 
10) Announcements  23 
 24 
The meeting was called to order at 3:01 PM. 25 
 26 
September 2015 STPB meeting minutes were approved with no changes. 27 
 28 
Chair’s Report – Sue Perlgut announced that Christy Agnese gave birth to Vivianna Rose on October 7. 29 
Sue went on to introduce Marcia Nedland of Fall Creek Consultants who has been working with the 30 
Branding Committee. She went on to report that the Public Art program has received $4,000 from 31 
anonymous donors which will be distributed by the Community Art Partnership, and will be used to focus on 32 
murals in the first year of the program. The Tourism Program is exploring matching these funds with 33 
previously allocated public art funds that are currently in a Chamber account. Discussions with the City of 34 
Ithaca’s Public Art Commission will take place next week regarding the locations for art and the STPB, and 35 
Chamber’s role in the program. 36 
 37 
STPB Vote on the Nominating Committee – Sue Perlgut, Lynette Scofield, and Ethan Ash agreed to have 38 
their names put forward to serve on the 2015 Nominating Committee. Andy Zepp made the motion to appoint 39 
the Nominating Committee, seconded by David Blake, and approved unanimously. 40 

Name Representation 

Anne Kellerman EAt-Large 

Ian Golden Recreation 

Ethan Ash  Arts-Culture 

John Gutenberger  Cornell 

Lynnette Scofield  Lodging 

Kelli Cartmill  Lodging 

Rita Rosenberg A Agriculture 

David Blake   At-Large 

Andy Zepp  At-Large 

Stephen Nunley  At-Large 

Steve Hugo At-Large 

Ken Jupiter  At-Large 

Mike Mellor At-Large 

Anne Gossen Arts-Culture 

Sue Stafford  TC3 

Page 2, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Draft Meeting Minutes – October 2015 

Page 2  

 41 
Staff Report – Tom Knipe reported that the STPB has received the USDA grant for Agritourism that will 42 
involve 4 elements that include tourism readiness assessments for 40 farms (20 a year), a workshop in 43 
March on the materials from a similar workshop presented by the University of Vermont, and working with 44 
the CVB to host a new contracted position to work on agriculinary tourism development. He went on to 45 
express his gratitude to Kristy Mitchell, Monika Roth, Ethan Ash, and Rita Rosenburg, for their efforts with 46 
the application process.  Discussions regarding ownership of the visitor profile study are underway with the 47 
County Risk Manager. The project is slated to start in February and will end March 2017. Room tax reports 48 
for the third quarter showed August coming in short of previous projections. It was noted that reserves and 49 
repayments may cover the shortage; the Strategic Tourism Implementation budget line was noted as a last 50 
resort of flexible funding to cover the difference. A meeting with the Budget Committee in early 2016 may 51 
involve adjustments to budget for 2016 that will build 2016 projections off of reflect actual 2015 revenues.. 52 
The City’s Water Recreation Committee is working on expanding the access to water based recreation in 53 
the City of Ithaca, and is currently working on paddle craft storage locations and swimming. The Tompkins 54 
Festivals Advisory Committee is kicking off and will be looking at recent survey results for program 55 
evaluation. The Heritage Tourism Committee has presented a draft “Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan’ 56 
to the Planning and Evaluation Committee and plans to develop an executive summary, and present to the 57 
full board next month.   58 
 59 
Branding & Communications Committee Report and Discussion – Josh Friedman reported on a great 60 
first meeting, noting that their committee is currently evaluating target group interactions, and what the 61 
Strategic Tourism Planning Board should reflect from an outsider’s point of view. 62 
 63 
Branding the Tompkins County Tourism Program – Marcia Nedland of Fall Creek Consultants, reported 64 
on the discussions at the committee meeting and ideas presented. Marcia discussed, personally, being 65 
unaware of many of the activities and organizations that received funding by the STPB that she, as a 66 
resident, has utilized or attended. She went on to go over the many actions to take in order to organize a 67 
brand in a way that would be perceived strategically in order to build the desired reputation. Her 68 
presentation included brand goals, how the existing brand can affect a program, brand objectives, and 69 
target markets. Steps in creating brand strategies were discussed and included, the brand statement, key 70 
brand attributes, and developing branding strategies to build brand equity. 71 
 72 
Fall 2015 Tourism Grants 73 
 74 
Community Celebrations – Sue Perlgut reported on fall 2015 grant award recommendations on behalf of 75 
Carol Kammen. She went on to report that a total of 7 grants for a total of $9,912 were requested, and that 76 
a total of $7,218 in available funding was recommended to be awarded. Motion to approve funding for 77 
$7,218 for Community Celebrations as outlined in the agenda packet by Ken Jupiter, seconded by David 78 
Blake, and approved unanimously. 79 
 80 
New Tourism Initiatives – Steve Hugo reported on the four grant award recommendations submitted for 81 
the Ithaca Youth Bureau, Ithaca Festival, Ithaca Shakespeare Company, and the City of Ithaca for a total of 82 
37,565. A motion to approve funding for $35,000 for New Tourism Initiative grants as outlined in the agenda 83 
packet by David Blake, seconded Lynnette Scofield, and approved unanimously, with one abstention on 84 
behalf Josh Friedman for the vote on funding for Ithaca Shakespeare Company. 85 
 86 
P & E Committee Report and Discussion – Ken Jupiter opened his report by expressing gratitude for 87 
Anne Gossen’s efforts in leading the Heritage Tourism Committee. He went on to report that Andy Zepp 88 
and Ian Golden have volunteered to chair a new Outdoor Recreation Tourism Committee which will be a six 89 
month process. Sports Tourism was discussed and will be kept separate from outdoor recreation, involving 90 
team sports that will use facilities, and will require further exploration of sports tourism assets in the County. 91 
The P&E Committee also recommends that, when it is established, the Higher Education Tourism 92 
Taskforce take up questions around use of sporting facilities at Cornell University and Ithaca College for 93 
sporting tournaments, etc. 94 
 95 
CVB 3Q Report – Bruce Stoff presented the 3rd quarter report which was included in the agenda packet, 96 
and announced his resignation from the CVB, effective the end of 2015.   97 

Page 3, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) 
Draft Meeting Minutes – October 2015 

Page 3  

 98 
Announcements – Tom Knipe announced that the Skate Park was featured in the Ithaca Times and made 99 
reference to the associated tourism funding. Josh Friedman announced the Charades fundraiser on Sunday 100 
at the Hangar Theatre. Sue Perlgut announced that her film will air at Cinemapolis on November 8, at 2:00, 101 
and Cornell Law School on Tuesday at 7:00 pm, and the Rochester Film Festival. Lynnette Scofield 102 
announced her attendance at the show “Wait, Wait, Don’t Tell Me” in Chicago. Jennifer Tavares announced 103 
the Chamber’s silent and live auction next Wednesday at Coltivare.  104 
 105 
 106 
With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 4:42pm. 107 
 108 
 109 
Respectfully Submitted, 110 
Jennifer Turner, Administrative Assistant 111 
Tompkins County Planning Department 112 
 113 
Next Meeting Scheduled 114 
Wednesday November 18, 2015 115 
 116 
  117 

Page 4, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



Award of 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation Funding 

WHEREAS, the Tompkins County Legislature accepted the 2020 Strategic Tourism Plan on 
September 18th, 2012, and  

 
WHEREAS, Tompkins County has established a dedicated funding source for implementing the 

2020 Strategic Tourism Plan, known as Strategic Tourism Implementation, for which implementation of 
the County’s Wayfinding and Interpretive Signage Plan and a Visitor Profile Study are eligible projects, 
and  
 

WHEREAS, in 2013, the Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce received a $62,970 Strategic 
Tourism Implementation grant from the Tompkins County Tourism Program, upon recommendation of 
the STPB, to develop a plan to create a more comprehensive and coherent signage system throughout 
Tompkins County, and  
 

WHEREAS, the program includes a comprehensive gateway and municipal signage program; 
standard NYS DOT signage; signage “districts” designated to help visitors, parents, and our transient 
residential population navigate through Ithaca and Tompkins County; and vehicular directional signage to 
parks, trails, Cornell University, Ithaca College, and other important visitor destinations, and  
 

WHEREAS, the proposed plan will serve as a key element of a strong tourism infrastructure in 
Tompkins County, enhancing the ease of navigation for our nearly 900,000 annual visitors to key 
attractions and destinations while also supporting the development of a sense of place as one moves 
through the county, and  
 

WHEREAS, the Chamber of Commerce Foundation applied for a portion of funding to 
implement this project through the 2015 State of New York Consolidated Funding Application (CFA), 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce and its Foundation have been working 
with numerous stakeholders, including the County, City, Cornell University, Ithaca College, and other 
municipalities to pull together a local funding contribution match to the state CFA application, and  
 

WHEREAS, currently there is a lack of consistency in physical design and frequency of signs and 
no conceptual connection between types of signage, and improving wayfinding signage is identified as a 
priority in the Tompkins County 2020 Strategic Tourism Plan, and  
 

WHEREAS, the Tompkins Legislature has charged the STPB with providing oversight and 
strategic direction for use of the County’s $2.3 million dollars in annual hotel room occupancy tax funds, 
and the STPB develops recommendations to the Legislature for room tax budget allocations and tourism 
grants funded by room tax, and  
 

WHEREAS, the STPB views the Tompkins County Wayfinding and Interpretive Signage Project 
as a funding priority for Strategic Tourism Implementation funds, and has recommended allocating up to 
$150,000 in Strategic Tourism Implementation funding for it with funding spread over the three years of 
2015, 2016 and 2017 in approximately equal amounts of $50,000 each year, contingent upon securing 
sufficient funds to complete the project, with the final funding formula to be determined based on 
stakeholder participation and total project costs, and 

 

Page 5, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



WHEREAS, Tompkins County completed a visitor profile study in 2009 with consultant support 
from Chmura Economics & Analytics, and since then the County Tourism Program and its partners have 
used the study extensively for market identification, strategic planning, program evaluation, and analysis, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2009 study was designed as a “benchmark” study to be repeated every five years 

and there have also been significant demographic and market changes since 2009, and  
 
WHEREAS, several partners including the Discovery Trail, CVB, and Friends of Stewart Park, 

have agreed to contribute a portion of the funding towards the final cost of the study, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Ithaca Tompkins County Convention and Visitors Bureau, a division of the 

Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce, has agreed to lead the process of securing a qualified 
consultant to conduct a 2016-17 Visitor Profile Study, with an RFP to be distributed by the CVB, and  

 
WHEREAS, the STPB recommends using $50,000 in 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation 

funding towards this project with a possibility that a small amount of additional room tax funding will be 
needed out of 2016 funds to complete the project, and  

 
WHEREAS, Strategic Tourism Implementation funding exists within the Tourism Program 

budget for 2015, now therefore be it,  
 
 RESOLVED, on recommendation of the Economic Development Committee, That the following 
projects are awarded 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation funding:  
 
Applicant / Project Award  
Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce Foundation 
Wayfinding and Interpretive Signage Plan Implementation (Year 1) 

$50,000 

Ithaca Tompkins County Convention and Visitors Bureau 
Tompkins County Visitor Profile Study 

$50,000 

 
RESOLVED, further, That the County Administrator or his designee is authorized to sign any 

agreements with the award recipients pertaining to the aforementioned projects. 
 
SEQR ACTIONS:  
TYPE II-16 (Signage Plan) 
TYPE II – 21 (Visitor Profile Study) 
 
Cc:  Administration – via Network 
 Finance 
 Planning 
 STPB 
 
Explanatory Note:  

The Tompkins County Interpretive and Wayfinding Signage Plan is available online via the 
following link: http://www.tompkinschamber.org/whats-new/wayfinding/ 
 
The 2010 Visitor Profile Study is available by scrolling to the bottom of the Tourism Program’s 
website: http://tompkinscountyny.gov/tourism  
 

Page 6, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



DRAFT RESOLUTION:  Award of 2015 Tourism Partner Awards 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Tompkins County Tourism Program owes its success to the alliance of 
tourism partners and supporters, and  
  

WHEREAS, the Strategic Tourism Planning Board (STPB) and Tompkins County 
Legislature wish to recognize individuals, organizations, and associations who through their 
actions or activities have made an impact on the local economy by attracting conventioneers and 
visitors to Tompkins County, and 

 
WHEREAS, the STPB and the Legislature established a tourism recognition award 

program in 2006, and 
 
WHEREAS, funding exists in the 2015 Tourism Program budget to commemorate 

tourism partner awards by installing pavers at a trailhead of the Cayuga Waterfront Trail, and 
 
 WHEREAS, Conference Co-Chair Christopher Barrett and local conference planners, 
Craig Ryan and Anna Hammond from the Cornell College of Agriculture and Life Sciences along 
with a conference organizing committee consisting of many Cornell students and partners, 
planned and implemented the 2nd International Conference on Global Food Security hosted by 
Cornell University between October 11th and 15th, 2015, resulting in at least 500 hotel room 
nights, as well as thousands of visitor dollars spent in shops, restaurants, and other businesses, 
and 
 

WHEREAS, Diane Hicks-Hughes has coordinated the NY State High School Girls 
Swimming and Diving Championships on behalf of the New York State Public High School 
Athletic Association each November at Ithaca College since 2013, resulting in over 800 annual 
hotel room nights, as well as thousands of visitor dollars spent in shops, restaurants, and other 
businesses, now therefore be it 
 
 RESOLVED, on recommendation of the Economic Development Committee, That 
Christopher Barrett, Craig Ryan and Anna Hammond; and Diane Hicks-Hughes are awarded a 
Tourism Partner Award, and 
 

RESOLVED, further, That the County Legislature thanks Christopher Barrett, Craig 
Ryan and Anna Hammond and the Cornell University College of Agriculture and Life Sciences; 
and Diane Hicks-Hughes and the New York State Public High School Athletic Association for 
positively impacting the local economy. 
 
SEQR ACTION:  TYPE II-20  

Page 7, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



Page 8, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Tompkins Tourism Partner Award
Tompkins County Legislative Recognition 

STPB / Convention & Visitors Bureau 
 
 Name of Individual/ 
 Organization to be Recognized          
  
 Name of Group/Event          
 
 Address          
           
           
 
 Telephone Number          
 
 E-Mail          
 
 Date Meeting Occurred          
 
 Business Brought to Ithaca          
           
           
           
 
 Estimated # of Room Nights          
 
 Hotels Impacted          
 
 Comments          
           
           
 
 Nominated by:          
 
 Affiliation          
 
 Address          
           
           
   
 Telephone Number          
 
 E-Mail          
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 
 STPB Action              
 
 Date             
 
 Comments             

 
Page 9, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



Program Description: Tompkins Tourism Partner Award 

Tompkins County Legislature and Strategic Tourism and Planning Board’s recognition of 
local individuals who enhance the local economy by bringing conventions and large groups 
to Tompkins County 

PURPOSE: 
To recognize individuals, organizations, and associations who through their actions or activities 
have made an impact on the local economy by attracting conventioneers and visitors to 
Tompkins County. Individuals and organizations that are not paid for the purpose of attracting 
these groups are eligible. Convention and Visitors Bureau staff and hotel properties sales staff 
are not eligible. 

Attracting and hosting groups or conventions to Tompkins County has a positive impact on the 
entire economy impacting hotels, restaurants, retail sales, rental car agencies, airlines and the 
airport. Sales tax and room tax is positively affected by increasing the number of visitors to 
Tompkins County. 

It is further meant to encourage, by creating awareness, the positive impact that tourism and 
conventions can have on the local economy.  It is a “call to action” for all residents to invite the 
associations that they are members of to meet in Tompkins County -- examples would be 
national associations, state associations, hobby groups, social organizations, education 
associations, learned societies, fraternal organizations, and military groups.   

WHO IS RECOGNIZED: 
■ Local community members (and/or local associations, corporations or groups) who have an
impact on our economy by inviting and hosting groups and conventions through their own 
efforts. Primary recipients would be individuals who are not “convention planners” or sales 
people.  

■ Additionally, the Strategic Tourism Planning Board at its discretion may from time to time
recommend recognizing a local company, group or educational institution that brings annual 
business to the County.  (Examples include The CBORD Group Inc., local roads and highway 
superintendents)  

QUALIFICATION FOR AN AWARD: 
■ A minimum of 400 room nights booked – however, Strategic Tourism and Planning Board can
entertain all nominations on merit.  Weddings are excluded. The award is made only after the 
group has visited the county. 

WHAT IS THE AWARD: 
■ It is a certificate and public recognition along with an engraved keystone paver to be installed
in a designated section of the Waterfront Trail with the recipients name on it. The pavers are to 
be installed at the trailhead near the Tompkins County Chamber and Visitors Center during an 
annual unveiling ceremony. 

■ Awards at the Keystone level ($500 paver)

Page 10, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



HOW IDENTIFIED: 
■ Convention and Visitors Bureau Staff
■ Staff of the Ithaca College and Cornell University Conference and Events Departments
■ Nominations from hotels through the Convention and Visitors Bureau
■ Nominations from Strategic Tourism and Planning Board and Legislature members

HOW SELECTED: 
■ The Recognition Committee of the STPB reviews nominations. They gather input from the
Convention and Visitors Bureau if necessary. 

■ The chair of the Recognition Committee and the chair of the STPB ensure that the process of
selection is fair and objective. 

■ Upon nomination approval, the Recognition Committee forwards their recommendation to the
full STPB for approval. The approved nominations will then be forwarded to the County 
Legislature for review and final approval. 

HOW OFTEN AWARDED: 
■ Twice a year to keep the event and recognition special.

HOW RECOGNIZED: 
■ Presentation at either (or both) a Strategic Tourism Planning Board meeting or at a meeting of
the County Legislature. 

BUDGET: 
■ $1,000 per year made up of two $500 Keystone Awards.

HOW PUBLIZED: 
(Local publicity spurs other community members to action -- local residents will hopefully be 
inspired to invite a group that they are associated with to visit Tompkins County.)  
■ Tompkins County Chamber newsletter
■ Ithaca Journal Op-Ed
■ Press release to all local media and University Presses

CALL TO ACTION: 
■ A letter from Strategic Tourism and Planning Board or CVB will be sent to a wide assortment
of local influencers to make them aware of this award. It will be a call to action to remind them 
that they may be able to invite organizations with which they are affiliated to meet in Tompkins 
County. 

NAME FOR RECOGNITION 
■ Tompkins Tourism Partner Award

Contact information:  
 Tom Knipe, Senior Planner / Tourism Coordinator, tknipe@tompkins-co.org, 274-5560
  Sue Perlgut, Chair, STPB, scperl@verizon.net
  Kelli Cartmill, Chair, STPB Recognition Committee, kelli.cartmill@hilton.com

Page 11, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 
 

   

TOMPKINS	COUNTY	
HERITAGE	TOURISM	
IMPLEMENTATION	

PLAN	
 

 

 

 

 

Expanding Cultural 
Heritage Tourism to 
Delight and Inspire 

Page 12, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 

Tompkins County Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan, 11/13/2015 draft   Page | 1 

Executive	Summary	
With world‐class educational institutions, spectacular 
waterways, and a record of cultural leadership, heritage tourism 
is a natural fit and even an expectation of visitors to Tompkins 
County. Heritage tourism also showcases the unique richness of 
life in our area, protects irreplaceable assets, and contributes to 
our thriving historic and cultural offerings. National survey 
research demonstrates that cultural heritage visitors travel more 
frequently, stay in hotels more often, spend more, and stay 
longer than general leisure visitors. The goals of this two‐year 
implementation plan are to: 

 Increase overall visitation, length of stays and spending 
associated with heritage tourism in Tompkins County. 

 Deepen appreciation and awareness of Ithaca and 
Tompkins County’s history, so that visitors and residents 
alike take away a richer understanding of and connection to this place. 

 Improve access for visitors to the area’s rich heritage stories, notable people, historic themes 
and sites, natural history and public art. 

 Increase coordination and collaboration locally and regionally on heritage tourism initiatives. 
 

This plan, the first of its kind in Tompkins County, catalogues a number of potential subjects for long‐
term heritage tourism development surrounding the people, places, historic themes, organizations and 
heritage activities of this place while specifying 12 short‐term actions in four strategic areas to 
strengthen this component of our local tourism program. The Plan identifies possible sources and lead 
organizations, but does not commit future funding to heritage tourism initiatives. 

What is Heritage Tourism?  
“Heritage tourism is traveling to experience 
the places, artifacts, and activities that 
authentically represent the stories and 
people of the past and present. It includes 
cultural, historic and natural resources.” 
 
‐ National Trust for Historic 

Preservation 

Actions – Tompkins County Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan ‐ 2015‐2017 
  
Institutional Development:  Improve heritage tourism organizations, sites and attractions 
1.  Explore the establishment of a new Heritage Center as a joint project of The History Center and Historic Ithaca.  
 
Interpretation: Package underdeveloped stories, themes, and assets into visitor experiences and amenities 
2.  Establish the MLK Freedom Walkway. 
3.  Establish a public art grant program with heritage elements. 
4.  Provide support and rich interpretive content for current signage projects. 
5.  Implement the History Forge digital interactive historic map project. 
6.   Establish a shared platform for tour development and promote the development of additional tours.  
7.   Support programming being developed by the 2017 Tompkins County Bicentennial Commission to add tourism value. 
 
Capacity Building : Enhance the community’s capacity for heritage tourism development 
8.  Launch an ongoing Tompkins County Heritage Tourism Group.  
9.   Develop Heritage Tourism Public Programs and Outreach Coordinator position(s) at The History Center and Historic Ithaca. 
10.  Provide tourism training and technical assistance for heritage professionals. 
 
Marketing: Market heritage tourism offerings for success 
11.  Develop a framework and preliminary content for a website to promote heritage tourism attractions and experiences.. 
12.  Create a 'Heritage Ambassadors' program.

Page 13, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 

Tompkins County Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan, 11/13/2015 draft   Page | 2 

 

Acknowledgements		
The Heritage Tourism Task Force of the Tompkins County Strategic Tourism Planning Board gratefully 
thanks all the individuals and organizations contributing to this implementation strategy and to the 
tremendous vibrancy of our local heritage offerings. 

 
Task Force Members: 
Anne Gossen, Chair 
Sherene Baugher, Cornell Archaeologist, Friends of Robert Treman State Park 
Jeffrey Chusid, Associate Professor, Cornell Department of City and Regional Planning 
Ian Golden, Strategic Tourism Planning Board, local business owner and event director 
Rod Howe, Executive Director, The History Center of Tompkins County 
Carol Kammen, County Historian, American Association for State & Local History affiliate 
Christine O’Malley, Preservation Services Coordinator, Historic Ithaca, Inc. 
Alphonse Pieper, Executive Director, Historic Ithaca, Inc. 
John Spence, Executive Director, Community Arts Partnership 
Baruch Whitehead, Ithaca College Music Department, Dorothy Cotton Jubilee Singers 
Andrew Zepp, Executive Director, Finger Lakes Land Trust 
Katherine Banko, Ithaca Tompkins County Conventions and Visitors Bureau 
 
Staff:  
Thomas Knipe, Tompkins County Senior Planner / Tourism Coordinator 

 
Dozens of other community organizations and individuals with interest and knowledge of heritage 
tourism also provided information, insights and resources in support of this plan, including: Lleslyn 
McBean Clairborne (GIAC and MLK Freedom Walkway), Scott Callan, Jean Currie, Bruce Stoff (Ithaca 
Tompkins County Convention and Visitors Bureau), Laura Mandala, Brian Frey (WSKG), Brian McCracken 
(City of Ithaca), Jay O’Leary (ActionXL), Ed Marx (Tompkins County Planning Department), Jennifer 
Tavares (Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce), Carole Schiffman, Ithaca Heritage Aviation 
Foundation, and Wharton Studio Museum.   

 
 

In Memoriam of Stuart Stein, Founding Chair of the STPB Heritage Tourism Task Force 
   

Page 14, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 

Tompkins County Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan, 11/13/2015 draft   Page | 3 

Table	of	Contents	
Introduction 
  Vision 
  Background 
  Goals 
Plan Overview 
  Definition 
  Principles 
  The Heritage Tourism Visitor and Potential Economic Impact 

    Broad Future Trends 
Local Assets and Opportunities Overview 
  Overarching Strengths 
  Overarching Challenges 
  Overarching Opportunities 
Assets and Opportunities Detailed by Subject 
  High Potential Subjects for Heritage Tourism Development  
  People 
  Places 
  Other Heritage Themes 
  Organizational Activities 
Strategies and Actions  
  Summary of Strategies and Actions 

    Tourism Program funding for Heritage Tourism initiatives     
Action Matrix with description, lead organization(s), and possible funding 

Appendix 
 

  	

Page 15, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



 
CVB November 2015 Update 
 
Transition 
The Chamber President will be discussing transition plans for CVB leadership with STPB so we 
won’t elaborate except to say day‐to‐day operations are proceeding smoothly. We do have two 
other items that rise to the level of board attention: 
 
Downtown Visitor Center  
Community Arts Partnership notified us on November 11 that we may need to vacate the 
Downtown Visitor Center at the end of the year. We’re currently in discussions with CAP (the 
leaseholder) and DIA (our partner in the space) on extending the lease or securing a new 
location. Though there is much uncertainty now, it seems clear that we will be paying more 
than budgeted for downtown rent. This news was unexpected. Though we’ve known for 
months that CAP had been working with landlord Frost Travis renegotiating the lease, we had 
no idea that we might lose the space. Apparently Frost found a retail tenant ready to sign a 
long‐term market‐rate lease. This is in contrast to the series of 1‐year discounted “donate to 
the arts” leases that CAP had negotiated in the past. While it’s good news that downtown retail 
space is back in demand, we could be scrambling soon.  
 
Marketing Specialist 
We are currently advertising for a Marketing Specialist to replace Katherine Banko. Katherine 
left us in October after being accepting a fabulous national marketing position with Ward 
Manufacturing. Talented candidates are urged to contact Kristy Mitchell 
(kristy@visitithaca.com) for the job posting and details. 
 

Page 16, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



1 | P a g e  
CVB Evaluation Plan – Final 11/11/15 

Final Draft: 11/11/15 
 

Evaluating CVB Performance 
A Framework for Establishing Annual Goals, Reporting and Review 

 
Adopted by the Strategic Tourism Planning Board, Planning and Evaluation Committee 

November 11, 2015 
 

Executive Summary 
The County Tourism Program seeks reliable data‐driven performance measures for evaluation and 
improvement of all operations. The CVB is the largest enterprise funded by the Tourism Program and 
therefore warrants a well‐reasoned evaluation plan. 
 
The CVB staff, believing that this type of evaluation would help focus its efforts and its reporting, 
stepped forward in 2014 to test an in‐depth evaluation project. The goal of the year‐long process was to 
create an evaluation plan for the CVB consisting of key “evaluation questions” and specific “evaluation 
measures” to help answer those questions. It was also hoped that a concise list of measures could lead 
to a “dashboard” for analyzing the CVB’s performance in key areas. 
 
We have learned from this effort that the idea of a “dashboard” oversimplifies the complex role of the 
CVB. Further, some of the measures that one would otherwise want such a “dashboard” to contain 
disguise a basic problem in CVB evaluation, namely that the CVB does not control product, price or sales 
making simple measures like Room‐Nights, Occupancy Rate, or Revenue poor proxies for CVB 
performance. The CVB can only inform and (hopefully) influence travelers, a process that is difficult to 
quantify. Finally, participants in the project soon realized that a single dashboard cannot easily adapt to 
a rapidly evolving local tourism market and the internal evaluation needs of the CVB. It could quickly 
become obsolete, minimizing its usefulness and limiting the value of the work put into the project. 
 
Further, in discussions with Chamber leadership, it became clear that the evaluation process must 
acknowledge that the CVB is a division of the Chamber, and as such, also reports to the Chamber Board 
of Directors and President on a monthly basis. Further, CVB staff members are also evaluated by their 
supervisors on myriad skills, performance measures, and objectives. There are also existing reporting 
mechanisms to the STPB and Legislature. Rather than creating new parallel reporting and evaluation 
mechanisms, it is apparent that this new evaluation process must function within the parameters of the 
Chamber’s own strategic plan, annual work plan, budgetary needs, and employee feedback system, and 
also be incorporated directly into other existing budgeting, work planning and reporting processes. 
 
Understanding this, it is clear that CVB evaluation is a cooperative process influenced by multiple 
stakeholders and needs. Therefore, rather than a concise list of rigid measures, the process led to the 
creation of a framework to guide, inform and educate the CVB, Chamber Leadership, STPB and other 
stakeholders in the collaborative process of annual goal setting and evaluation.  
 
The framework will aid in: 

 Establishing Annual Workplans 

 Prioritizing Budget Choices 

 Establishing Goals as Required in the County Tourism Program Budget Process 

 Creating Monthly and Quarterly Reports for STPB and the Legislature’s EDC Committee 

Page 17, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



2 | P a g e  
CVB Evaluation Plan – Final 11/11/15 

 Supplying Program Administrators and the STPB’s P&E Committee with Relevant Data for 
Ongoing Review 

 
The framework is built around individual “Evaluation Measures” that identify key operations in each CVB 
department. The process deriving these measures is outlined in detail in the ensuing pages. The 
Evaluation Measures themselves are summarized here: 
 
CVB Evaluation Measures 
 

Visitor Services Measures 

 Product knowledge and customer service skills are essential in visitor services, therefore 
measures should be established for ongoing training.  

 To maximize its impact, visitor services must strive to reach the maximum number of visitors, 
therefore total consumer contacts are a critical measure. (total of walk‐ins, emails, phones, mail, 
events, etc.).  

 Increased visitor spending is a major department goal, therefore a training or incentive program 
that measures and reports “upsells” is recommended.  

 Visitor satisfaction is critical to growth, therefore long‐term visitor services “satisfaction survey,” 
should be implemented internally or through the County Visitor Profile Study.  

 

Group Sales Measures 

 Total sales contacts or numbers of “cold calls” are less important than grooming quality 
prospects, therefore create measures that encourage quality relationships with meeting and 
event planners, including contacts upgraded to prospects.  

 Familiarity with the local market is key to local sales, therefore measures should include total 
number of local sales tours (FAM attendees, individual meeting planners hosted, etc.)  

 Total qualified‐ready‐to‐book leads delivered to hotel properties. 

 Growth in motorcoach groups  

 

Marketing Measures 

 Total impressions (website unique visitors, pageviews, social fans, PR impressions, etc.). 

 Consumer engagement measures (ad/email click‐through rates, social “likes,” etc.) vs. industry.  

 CVB marketing assistance is critical to partners and the Tourism Program, therefore it should 
measure and report on partner assists.  

 Best practices and professional skills are critical, therefore measures of professional 
development are encouraged.  

 
 
   

Page 18, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15



3 | P a g e  
CVB Evaluation Plan – Final 11/11/15 

 
Furthermore, this framework includes three “Policy Guidance Statements” that were discussed and 
adopted by P&E during the course of this project. These statements help define the value of non‐lodging 
tourism, support an evolving model of Visitor Services and acknowledge the importance of non‐
traditional efforts in group sales. These are summarized here. 
 
 
Policy Guidance Statements 
 
#1 — The focus of CVB marketing and sales efforts should be broadened beyond the CVB’s historic focus 
on “heads‐in‐beds” and overnight stays to include additional local spending as a goal. This is supported 
in the Strategic Plan, it benefits the tourism grant program, it encourages positive “word of mouth” 
among residents and others coming for reasons outside of the influence of CVB out‐of‐county marketing 
and it acknowledges that local tourism goes beyond lodging spending. 
 
#2 — Evaluation efforts should better clarify the audience and information delivery methods of Visitor 
Services to maximize cost‐effectiveness. Evaluations should encourage operational tactics that address 
changing visitor demographics, visitor service technology, and customer needs. 
 
#3 — Group Sales efforts should be broadened beyond historical targets of new meetings and tours to 
achieve greater impact. This includes possibly spending time serving groups who are already here such 
as higher ed groups and providing packaging/resources to integrate them more into the community. 
This also acknowledges our market limitations of space and rate, and acknowledges a need for 
broadmindedness in driving demand for chronic midweek, offseason need periods. 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 19, STPB agenda packet 11/18/15


	11_18_15_STPB_agenda3
	10-21-15 STPB minutes draft - Final
	Award of 2015 Strategic Tourism Implementation Funding
	Heritage Tourism Implementation Plan_10_13_ExecSummary
	11 CVB Nov Board Update
	Evaluating CVB Performance_Final-11-12-15_Exec Summary (2)

	Organization to be Recognized: Co-Chairs: Cheryl Palm (Columbia), Chris Barrett (Cornell/CALS);    Planners: Charlotte Alman (Elsevier), Craig Ryan (CALS), Anna Hammond (CALS)
	Name of GroupEvent 1: 2nd International Conference on Global Food Security
	Name of GroupEvent 2: 
	Address 1: Local Address: CALS 204 Warren Hall, Cornell University
	Address 2: 
	Telephone Number: 607-255-4489
	EMail: cbb2@cornell.edu
	Date Meeting Occurred: 10/11-15/2015
	Business Brought to Ithaca: Guestroom nights city wide, entertainment/leisure spend, dining, airport, meetings. 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	Estimated  of Room Nights: 500
	Hotels Impacted: The Statler Hotel, Hotel Ithaca, Hilton Garden Inn, Best Western and others.
	Comments: 
	1_2: 
	2_2: 
	Nominated by: The Statler Hotel/Cornell University
	Affiliation 1: Host Hotel
	Affiliation 2: Cornell University
	Address 1_2: 130 Statler Drive
	Address 2_2: Ithaca, NY 14853
	Telephone Number_2: 607-254-2600
	EMail_2: amd68@cornell.edu
	STPB Action: 
	Date: 
	Comments_2: 


